
    Paramus Planning Board Meeting 
Thursday, September 15, 2016 

 
 

 
Chairman Caminiti, at 7:00 PM in the Council Chambers, called a 
regular meeting of the Paramus Planning Board in the Borough Hall 
on Thursday, September 15, 2016.  
 
Pledge of Allegiance  

        Michael Blitzstein  
 

Statement of Notification 
Chairman Caminiti advised that The Planning Board has complied 
with the open public meeting act (The Sunshine Law) by notifying two 
newspapers, The Record and The Ridgewood News of tonight’s 
meeting with the agenda.  Also posted is a copy of the agenda on 
the Bulletin board, and a copy of the agenda is on file in the Borough 
Clerk’s office. 
 
Roll Call 

         Denis Niland  
        W. Stuart Clark  
        M. Blitzstein  
        N. Matahen  
        L. Romano  
        P. Caminiti   

 
Absent 

        M. Bellinger  
        K. Hook  
        R. Conte  
        M. Sicari   
 
 

Also Present 
Linda Garofalo Planning Board Secretary 
Beth Calderone    Court Reporter 
Peter TenKate  Boswell McClave Engineering 
Frank Ciambrone Francis A. Ciambrone, Esquire  
Francis Reiner  DMR Architects, Planner 
 

 



Page 2 – September 15, 2016 Minutes  
 
 

Hearings: 
 
Applicant: Gross Realty Associates   

66 Route 17 North 
Block 1208 Lot 12  
Final Site Plan, Preliminary Site Plan and Signage approval                   

 
Attorney: Stuart Liebman  
  Wells, Jaworski & Liebman  
    12 Route 17 N  
  Paramus, NJ  07652   
 
 
Discussion: 

 
Chairman Caminiti stated that the applicant has requested the hearing 
be adjourned and rescheduled to the October 20, 2016 meeting.  No 
further notice is required by the applicant and the applicant has waived 
the time for the Board to act.   
 

 
Hearings: 
 
Applicant:  Humdinger’s LLC  
                      64 E. Midland Avenue  
            Block 4303 Lot 6  
  Amendment or Revision to an Approved Site Plan  
 
Attorney:  S. Sinisi  
   2 Sears Drive  
   Paramus, NJ  07652  
 
Discussion: 
 
Mr. Sinisi stated the applicant is no stranger to this Board, they came 
before this Board last year.  This is a private, commercial entertainment 
recreational facility.  They propose to install and operate amusement 
games and devices.  A 31,700 sq. foot facility was approved.  2,200 sq.  
 



Page 3 – September 15, 2016 Minutes  
 
feet will be devoted to arcade type amusement games.  Tonight we will  
hear from the:  
owner/operator  
Architect 
Bill Page 
Brigette Bogart 
 
Dave Schwartz, owner, was sworn in and his credentials accepted by 
Chairman Caminiti.  
Mr. Schwartz stated he is the VP of Operations for one year.  He has been 
at Bergen Batting Center for 16 years.    
A1 – Resolution dated March 3, 2016  
Tonight we are seeking approval for games.   No gambling games are 
proposed.  The games will be attractive to all ages.   
There will be 12 employees on a regular shift and up to 30 per shift when 
there is a Birthday party.   
 
Chairman Caminiti asked for questions from the Board, the Public.  
 
Lou Romano asked why the games were not presented with the initial 
application.    
 
Mr. Schwartz stated Brigette Bogart will respond.   
 
Mr. Blitzstein asked if there are any other Humdingers.  Mr. Schwartz 
responded yes, in River Edge and Paramus.   
 
Lou Romano stated we have an ordinance that governs this type of 
business.  
 
Francis Reiner stated Chapter 165-A1 – this is a permitted use in all business 
zones.  
 
Frank Ciambrone stated this is still subject to Mayor and Council granting 
a license.  
 
Chairman Caminiti stated he feels we should hear this application and if 
they are in the wrong place then they will be sent to the right place.  
 
Francis Reiner feels the borough should consider the ambiguous 
language.  
 



Page 4 – September 15, 2016 Minutes  
 
Nick Matahen asked if the games use a card to operate them.   
 
Dave Schwartz stated the applicant has worked very closely with Berkeley 
College and they are familiar with the parking and games application.   
 
Peter TenKate stated he would like it on record that next to the church 
there is a child daycare.   
 
Chairman Caminiti asked for questions from the Board, the Public, no one 
appeared.  
 
A2 – letter from Berkeley College dated September 13, 2016 stating no 
objection to the games.    
 
Andrew Fethes, Architect, 613 Oradell Avenue, Oradell, NJ  07649-1706  
Mr. Fethes was sworn in and his credentials accepted by Chairman 
Sugarman.  
 
A3 – Interior alteration plan for Humdinger’s dated July 25, 2016 – 1 sheet – 
floor plan – game equipment layout  
 
Mr. Fethes discussed the floor plan.  There are 32 games planned, 
application is for 50 games.  Pieces of Paramus history are throughout the 
facility.   
 
To pay for a game, there is a desk at the entrance.  At the kiosks you can 
buy a card that’s good for all areas of the facility.   
 
Item #11 – Peter TenKate’s report.  Can you confirm any proposed 
Architectural changes.   
Mr. Fethes responded no changes proposed. 
Item #20 – Any changes to the exterior signage.  
Mr. Fethes responded no.  
Item #21 – Any changes to the site lighting?  
Mr. Fethes responded no.  
Item #22 – Is the lighting adequate in the parking and entry areas.  
Mr. Fethes responded yes, it is adequate.  
6.9% of the floor area is for the game component.  
 
Chairman Caminiti asked for questions from the Board, the public.  
 
 



Page 5 – September 15, 2016 Minutes  
 
Nick Matahen asked if the safety and security cameras are accessible to  
the parents.  
 
Mr. Fethes responded yes there are cameras.  Dave Schwartz will answer 
the other questions. 
 
Chairman Caminiti asked if there will be additional parking requirements 
at peak times.  
Mr. Fethes responded, at peak times, yes.  
 
Mr. Schwartz stated the camera system is located within the batting cage.  
Two 65 inch monitors proposed in the restaurant area.  Fish eyes will be in 
the bowling area, to be seen from the Restaurant area.  This is not an 
open web cam.  Parents cannot view from outside.  
 
Payment system can be used for food as well.  Card can be for any 
denomination.   
 
Lou Romano asked when they are planning to open.  
 
Mr. Schwartz stated a soft opening in late October.  Grand Opening 
possibly by Thanksgiving.  
 
William Page, Engineer, 6 Forest Avenue, Paramus, NJ.  Mr. Page was 
sworn in and his credentials accepted by Chairman Caminiti.  Mr. Page 
stated he was asked to do a parking study and compare parking with 
Berkeley College.  He inspected the property 12 times.   
 
A4 – Plan prepared by Page Consultants dated November 2, 2015.  Sheet 
1 of 2 – site plan - shows the building, shaded area shows Humdinger’s.  
The bulk of the parking is on the North side of the building.  Students are 
not at school all day long, they stay for 1 or 2 hours, not there every day.  
 
A5 – Parking study – dated November 17, 2015.   
 
Mr. Page stated he does not feel parking will be an issue.  
 
Chairman Caminiti asked for questions from the Board, the public.  
 
Chairman Caminiti stated there is 31,000 sq. feet, 380 proposed parking 
spaces, 551 spaces are required, 380 proposed.  What is the ratio for  
 



Page 6 – September 15, 2016 Minutes  
 
parking for the overall site.  95,000 sq. feet = 3 ½.  
The stacking/waiting area requires additional parking.  There are 4-5 
spaces at the front area, maybe this can be used for drop off, pick-up.  
Children wouldn’t have to cross the parking lot in this case.   
 
Peter TenKate stated he would prefer to use 379 spaces as total.  That’s all 
he counted.   
 
A6 – Infill loading dock at entrance, Plan dated November 2, 2105 – 1 
sheet  
There are two parking spaces at the loading docks. 
 
Chairman Caminiti asked for questions from the Board, the public.  
 
Brigette Bogart, Planner, 648 Godwin Avenue #2, Midland Park, NJ.  Mrs. 
Bogart was sworn in and her credentials accepted by Chairman Caminiti.   
 
Mrs. Bogart stated she has worked with the client for three years in an 
attempt to find a location in Paramus.  She researched zoning and 
licenses in the Borough.  The Zoning Ordinance for arcade games is 
circular.  This use is permitted in this zone.  Arcade games are permitted 
through the licensing chapter and the Planning Board.  Per the 
Ordinance, 1 ½ spaces per arcade game is required.   
 
Chairman Caminiti stated the parking is 30% short.   
 
Brigette Bogart stated that this is more efficient use of land.  The school 
next door has different peak periods, students are not on site when 
Humdinger’s is at peak.   
 
Lou Romano stated he has concerns with the parking.  Property is 
surrounded by Rt. 17, Parkway and Midland Avenue.  
 
Denis Niland stated the student enrollment is down, this benefits the 
parking issue.    
 
Nick Matahen asked what the impact is with a House of Worship and 
Daycare nearby?  
 
Steve SInisi stated that the owners have received notice.  
 
Chairman Caminiti asked for questions from the Board, the public.  



Page 7 – September 15, 2016 Minutes  
 
 
Brigette Bogart stated the Ordinance requires 1 ½ spaces per game.  
Games are an ancillary use.  The reality is people would be there for 
batting and play the games while waiting.   
 
Lou Romano stated we approved the parking at the prior meeting.  
 
Chairman Caminiti asked for questions from the Board, the public.  
 

 
Voting: 
 
Motion to approve request by Chairman Caminiti, 2nd by Mr. Clark.   
In favor:  Niland, Clark, Blitzstein, Matahen, Romano, Caminiti  
Opposed: 
Abstained:    
 

 
 
Resolution Voting: 
 
Resolution 2016-13  17 North Associates, LLC    Block 2504   Lots 9 & 10     
Signage approval.  Motion to grant request by Chairman Caminiti, 2nd by 
Mr. Clark.    
 
In favor:    Clark, Romano, Caminiti     
Opposed: 
Abstained:  Niland, Blitzstein, Matahen  
 
 
 
Resolution Voting: 
 
Resolution 2016-14   Paestum, LLC    Block 1102  Lot 10  Site Plan and 
Signage approval.  Motion to grant request by Chairman Caminiti, 2nd by 
Mr. Clark.    
 
In favor:    Clark, Romano, Caminiti    
Opposed: 
Abstained:  Niland, Blitzstein, Matahen  



Page 8 – September 15, 2016 Minutes  
 
 
Voting: 
 
Approve Vouchers to be Paid.  Motion to approve request by Mr. 
Matahen, 2nd by Mr. Caminiti.   
.   
In favor:    Niland, Clark, Blitzstein, Matahen, Romano, Caminiti  
Opposed: 
Abstained:  
 
  

Voting: 
 
Approve Minutes from August 4, 2016.   Motion to approve request by 
Chairman Caminiti, 2nd by Mr. Clark.   
In favor:     Clark, Romano, Caminiti  
Opposed: 
Abstained: Niland, Blitzstein, Matahen    
 

 
 
Attorney, Frank Ciambrone, stated the Mayor and Council passed an 
Ordinance, Soldier Hill lot as an area of redevelopment.  We need to ask 
Francis Reiner to do a study.  Francis Reiner to make recommendations to 
the Planning Board.   
 
 
Voting: 
 
Approve Francis Reiner to do study of Soldier Hill as an area of 
redevelopment.  Motion to approve request by Chairman Caminiti, 2nd 
by Mr. Clark. 
In favor:    Niland, Clark, Blitzstein, Matahen, Romano, Caminiti  
Opposed: 
Abstained: 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
Planning Board Attorney  
Francis A. Ciambrone, Esquire  
242 Oradell Avenue – Second Floor  
Paramus, NJ  07652  
(201) 967-0010  (201) 967-0011 fax   
 
 
Planning Board, Planner 
Francis Reiner 
DMR Architects   
777 Terrace Avenue, Suite 607  
Hasbrouck Heights, NJ 07604  
201 288-2600 
 
 
Borough Engineer 
Boswell McClave 
Peter TenKate, P.E. 
330 South Phillips Avenue 
South Hackensack, N.J. 07606 
201 265-2100 ext 619 
 
 
 
Court Reporter 
C/O Beth Calderone, C.C.R. 
77 Ottawa Avenue  
Hasbrouck Heights, N.J. 07604 
201 288-0277 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 


	Pledge of Allegiance
	Statement of Notification
	Roll Call
	Absent
	Also Present

	Hearings:
	Discussion:
	Hearings:
	Discussion:
	Voting:
	Resolution Voting:
	Resolution Voting:
	Voting:
	Voting:
	Voting:
	Borough Engineer
	Court Reporter


